REVIEW ARTICLE

A brief overview on synthesis and applications of graphene and graphene-based nanomaterials

Maria COROŞ (🖾), Florina POGĂCEAN, Lidia MĂGERUŞAN, Crina SOCACI, and Stela PRUNEANU

National Institute for Research and Development of Isotopic and Molecular Technologies, 67-103 Donat Street, Cluj-Napoca 400293, Romania

© Higher Education Press and Springer-Verlag GmbH Germany, part of Springer Nature 2019

ABSTRACT: Graphene is a remarkable material with great potential in many applications due to its chemical and physical properties. In this review we briefly present the recent research progress (2016–2018) in graphene and graphene-based nanomaterials synthesis and discuss the practical aspects of using the materials produced via these methods for different graphene-based applications.

KEYWORDS: graphene synthesis; nanomaterials; graphene-based applications

Contents

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Recent progress of graphene and graphene-based nanomaterials synthesis
 - 2.1 Top-down synthesis
 - 2.1.1 Liquid-phase exfoliation
 - 2.1.2 Electrochemical exfoliation
 - 2.1.3 Chemical reduction of graphene oxide
 - 2.2 Bottom-up synthesis
 - 2.2.1 Epitaxial method
 - 2.2.2 CVD synthesis
 - 2.2.3 Chemical synthesis from aromatic molecules
- 3 Conclusion and outlook

Acknowledgement

References

1 Introduction

Graphene, one of the carbon allotropes, has received

Received August 2, 2018; accepted October 19, 2018

E-mail: maria.coros@itim-cj.ro

increasing attention from the scientific community since the 2010 Nobel Prize for Physics accorded for "groundbreaking experiments regarding the two-dimensional (2D) material graphene". Since then the number of papers and patents related to graphene and graphene-based nanomaterials synthesis and applications gained a rapid increase and is still growing [1]. Graphene-based nanomaterials revealed unique features and there are highlighted new routes for the easy and proficient preparation of graphenebased nanocomposites with applications in various fields (Fig. 1) [2].

In the recent years many review works discussed the topics of synthesis and applications of graphene and graphene-based nanomaterials [2–6]. To cite just few recent works, Mohan et al. reviewed the latest outcomes in graphene production techniques, properties and their environmental applications, toxicity and safe handling protocols [7]. Wang et al. discussed the recent advances in the synthesis and drug delivery application of graphene based nanomaterials [8]. The exfoliation of graphene by mechanical, chemical and thermal reduction and chemical vapor deposition (CVD) was also summarized [9]. Another recent review focuses on the most significant papers related to graphene-based electrochemical sensors for the determination of hazardous ions [10]. Wu et al. systematically



Fig. 1 An overview on the contribution of graphene to various applications and different sectors. Reproduced from Ref. [2] with permission of Elsevier.

reviewed the developments in Raman spectroscopy of graphene-based materials from both fundamental research and practical perspectives [11]. A detailed summary of the different applications of graphene-based nanomaterials in drug delivery, nucleic acid delivery, phototherapy, bioimaging and theranostics was provided by Roy and Jaiswal [12]. The recent research progresses on the synthesis of nanoporous graphene materials and their applications in different areas were considered [13]. Phiri et al. discussed about the synthesis methods of graphene (particularly from graphite) and some properties and applications in polymer composites [14]. The theoretical insights of graphene growth on various metal surfaces were recently reviewed [15]. Another article provides a comprehensive review of ever-expanding application of graphene nanomaterials with different inorganic and organic materials in drug delivery and theranostics. The preparation methods of nanomaterials were detailed and biological and physicochemical characteristics of biomedical relevance were discussed [16]. A comprehensive summary of graphenebased nanomaterials characteristics, synthesis and applications as well as of their in vitro and in vivo evaluation in medicine was presented [17].

In this review, we summarized the recent development (2016–2018) on the graphene and graphene-based nanomaterials preparation methods and the uses of these materials for different applications (sensors, electronic devices, supercapacitors, dye adsorbents, composites, transparent conductive films). However, due to the extremely large number of publications it was not possible to cover all of these articles and so we made a selection of the most recent articles in each of the relevant sections based on their accessibility.

2 Recent progress of graphene and graphene-based nanomaterials synthesis

It is desirable that the synthesis of graphene and graphenebased materials to be controlled in such way as to confer properties for specific applications. As is known, the synthesis of graphene can be accomplished by two main approaches, the bottom-up and the top-down, respectively. Bottom-up methods comprise the synthesis of graphene from alternative carbon sources while top-down approaches involve the separation of stacked graphite layers to yield single graphene sheets (Fig. 2) [18–19].

One of the major challenges in commercializing graphene is how to produce high-quality material in a reproducible manner, on a large scale and at low cost. Although this still continues to be a considerable challenge, a number of different routes to synthesize graphene have



Fig. 2 Schematic representation for graphene synthesis through top-down and bottom-up approaches. Reproduced from Ref. [18] with permission of Elsevier.

been developed over recent years (2016–2018) as discussed below.

2.1 Top-down synthesis

2.1.1 Liquid-phase exfoliation

Liquid-phase exfoliation of graphite generally implicates wet chemical dispersion followed by sonication induced exfoliation in appropriate solvents in the absence or the presence of surfactants. It was developed [20] a new nanoparticle assisted liquid-phase exfoliation method of graphite to graphene sheets. The method is based on the use of magnetic Fe_3O_4 nanoparticles as "particle wedge" to ease the delamination of graphitic layers (Fig. 3). It was concluded that exfoliation using particle wedges would be an applicable technique in order to reduce ultrasonication time and suppress structural defects arising from long-term sonication.

Recently it was reported an effective and green method for large scale synthesis of few layered graphene from graphite in pure water without any use of chemicals or surfactants [21]. The principle of this strategy consists in the facile liquid exfoliation route with the assistance of vapor pretreatment for the preparation of edge hydroxylated graphene. After synthesis, they used the water dispersed graphene to obtain an ultrathin conductive film made of graphene nanoplatelets only. The typical atomic force microscopy (AFM) images indicated that the thickness of nanoplateles were about 2.24, 0.52 and 1.76 nm, which corresponds to six-layer, single-layer, and fourlayer graphene. The statistical analysis of over 100 flakes displayed that > 25% of the graphene nanoplatelets are single layer (<1 nm in thickness) with a lateral size ranging from 0.5 to 2.5 µm. The method opened the way for the cost effective and environmentally friendly production of graphene-based materials with significant potential for real-life applications.

The authors of another study [22] have demonstrated a high-yield method to produce defect free few-layer graphene by exfoliation of graphite in a chemically modified degradable water-soluble polymer modified by cholamine assisted by physical sonication. They obtained high-quality graphene with a production rate of 6 g \cdot h⁻¹. The transmission electron microscopy (TEM) images of the exfoliated graphene reveal that the graphene sheets are transparent under the electron beam, suggesting a very small thickness of the graphene sheets, which was also confirmed by AFM analysis.

The liquid-phase exfoliation technique was applied to produce one- to four-layer graphene from flaky graphite using various solvents and surfactants. By depositing the exfoliated flakes on arbitrary substrates the authors obtained half-centimeter-size graphene films which can be useful for electronic and photonic applications [23].

The galvanostatic electrochemical assisted liquid-phase exfoliation of graphite using constant current setup was developed to synthesize few layer graphene [24]. Also, the



Fig. 3 Schematic illustration of the nanoparticle-assisted liquid-phase exfoliation method. Reproduced from Ref. [20] with permission of Elsevier.

authors studied liquid phase exfoliation of graphene dispersion with stabilizer and concluded that the addition of stabilizers like diethanolamine created extra defects and increased the thickness.

A continuous, semi-industrial sonication procedure for the production of graphene sheets in aqueous media was presented [25]. They characterized the product both in the supernatant and in the precipitate and observed that, above a certain critical specific energy, all graphite flakes were exfoliated into graphene sheets. It was demonstrated that sonication is a valid and scalable method for producing defect-free graphene from graphite and that the graphene production rate increases with volume.

2.1.2 Electrochemical exfoliation

Electrochemical exfoliation of graphite into graphene consists in using carbon sources (graphite or highly oriented pyrolytic graphite rods, graphite foils) as electrodes in an aqueous or non-aqueous electrolyte solution.

Recently, we reported a simple, cost-effective electrochemical approach to produce graphene by electrochemical exfoliation of graphite rods in acidic electrolytes [26]. The size of graphene flakes and the exfoliation/oxidation level were studied by varying the electrochemical parameters (e.g. applied bias, electrolyte concentration). In scanning electron microscopy (SEM) images (Fig. 4) one can see the thin and crumpled nanosheets which are randomly arranged and overlapped with each other.

Also, we prepared graphene nanosheets through onestep exfoliation of a graphite rod and subsequently attached gold nanoparticles to the graphene surface. The obtained material was then employed to modify a glassy carbon electrode and the electrochemical behavior of hydroquinone in the presence and absence of interfering species was studied [27].

Munuera et al. investigated an easy method for the preparation of ready-to-use and low oxygen content graphene material based on electrochemical delamination of graphite in aqueous medium using sodium halides as the electrolyte [28]. The halide-derived graphenes were tested as dye adsorbents, adsorbents for oils and non-polar organic solvents and as electrodes for supercapacitors and displayed comparable or even better performances than that of other types of graphene.

Hossain and Wang prepared graphene by electrochemical exfoliation of graphite rods in $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ solutions, at the temperature from 25 to 95 °C with and without the



Fig. 4 SEM images of electrochemically exfoliated graphene. Reproduced from Ref. [26] with permission of the Royal Society of Chemistry.

addition of H_2O_2 [29]. Using this procedure they produced low defect, double layer or overlap of two single-layer graphene (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5 TEM images of exfoliated graphenes synthesized using electrochemical exfoliation (a) at 50 °C without the addition of H_2O_2 , (b) at 50 °C with the addition of 5 mL H_2O_2 , (c) at 50 °C with the addition of 10 mL H_2O_2 , and (d) at 95 °C with the addition of 10 mL H_2O_2 (inset showing the corresponding selected area electron diffraction pattern). Reproduced from Ref. [29] with permission of Elsevier.

Their research demonstrated the essential role of both temperature and H_2O_2 addition in producing high-quality graphene, which is significant for future applications.

A facile electrochemical exfoliation process was used for the synthesis of graphene from graphite anode in $0.1 \text{ mol} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ solution potassium sulphate. The analysis confirmed the synthesis of graphene nanosheets which were then used for making flexible paper supercapacitors [30].

A novel electrochemical exfoliation mode to efficiently prepare graphene sheets with potential applications in transparent conductive films was achieved [31]. Concentrated sodium hydroxide solution was used as electrolyte and the graphite electrode was coated with paraffin in order to keep the electrochemical exfoliation in confined space. The experiments were conducted at a low voltage (3 V) so as to prepare graphene with decreased amounts of defects and increased yield.

A high-yield method for producing low-defect graphene nanosheets by electrochemical exfoliation of graphene from natural graphite electrode in the presence of sulfate ions under constant voltage and constant current models was developed (Fig. 6) [32].

Based on the experimental results, their approach may constitute an industrial scalable processing method for producing high-yield and low-defect graphene products.

By contrast with the above mentioned works, the direct



Fig. 6 The schematic diagram of electrochemically exfoliating graphene from graphite electrode under constant voltage and constant current models with the temperature range of 300–333 K. Reproduced from Ref. [32] with permission of the Royal Society of Chemistry.

electrochemical reaction between graphite powder and metallic Li in 1 mol·L⁻¹ lithium hexafluorophosphate/ propylene carbonate electrolyte was used to continuously exfoliate graphite with a high yield of 80% without any consumption of electric energy [33]. The SEM and TEM images (Fig. 7) suggest that the non-electrified electrochemical exfoliation method can produce few-layer



Fig. 7 Morphological observation on the non-electrified electrochemical exfoliated graphene: (a) SEM and (b) TEM images; HRTEM images of (c) single layer, (d) bi-layer and (e) four-layer; (f) SAED pattern of bilayer graphene. Reproduced from Ref. [33] with permission of Elsevier.

graphene nanosheets with high quality similar as typical electrochemical exfoliation route.

2.1.3 Chemical reduction of graphene oxide

The chemical reduction of graphene oxide (GO) is an efficient method to produce graphene with respect to costs and large-scale production. A disadvantage of this method is the fact that the reduced graphene sheets tends to agglomerate. Furthermore, the chemical reduction process usually employs toxic reducing agents, such as hydrazine or sodium borohydride, which are harmful to the environment. The use of green reducing agents over toxic chemicals has currently become one of the appealing topics in the graphene field [34–36].

Table 1 presents a series of different green reducing agents recently used in the graphene oxide reduction process [37-48].

All of the reducing agents have proven to be environmentally friendly and the products obtained are highly dispersible and biocompatible and, hence, useful in one way or another.

2.2 Bottom-up synthesis

The bottom-up synthesis includes epitaxial method, CVD, thermal pyrolysis [49] and chemical synthesis from aromatic molecules.

2.2.1Epitaxial method

The thermal decomposition of SiC is a promising method to prepare high-quality graphene and the epitaxial graphene obtained by this way can be applied to graphene-based electrical devices directly without transferring. Qin et al. studied the polarized Raman spectra of non-exfoliated monolayer and bilayer epitaxial graphene on 4H-SiC substrates. Their results indicated that the G band of epitaxial graphene showed non-polarization, while the 2D band showed strong polarization dependency [50].

A new method to produce uniform epitaxial graphene on C-face 6H-SiC substrates with a sputtered SiC film by annealing temperatures ranging from 1400 to 1900 °C under Ar atmosphere was investigated. Bi-layer graphene of about 95% in a 75 μ m \times 75 μ m square were observed using Raman mapping and a low energy electron microscopy. Their conclusion was that this novel method is very promising for manufacturing analog high frequency devices [51].

Another research study [52] presents a new approach for the transfer-free graphene growth directly on cemented carbide. The authors explain the mechanism of chemical processes behind, especially underlying the structural, chemical and morphological aspects of the graphene layer formation. This paper opens new horizons towards further enhanced industrial applications of the cemented carbides. They used the currently existing engineering material and scientific data to develop a sustainable new aspect of cemented carbides without any need of depositing metal oxide layer to control carbon diffusion.

2.2.2 CVD synthesis

CVD is a complex method that requires precise control of synthesis parameters (temperature, pressure, deposition time, type of precursors) [53]. However, it still remains an attractive method for preparation of high-quality graphene. Table 2 summarizes some recent studies of graphene preparation by different CVD techniques [54-65].

.... F27 401

Reducing agent of GO	Temperature of reduction/°C	Time of reduction/h	$c(\text{GO solution}) / (\text{mg} \cdot \text{mL}^{-1})$	Ref.
Uric acid	90	1	1	[37]
Tea leaves extract	90	1	0.5	[38]
Ascorbic acid	95	1	0.5	[39]
Polydopamine	60	2	6	[40]
Annona squamosa leaf extract	100	12	0.4	[41]
Vancomycin	60	24	0.1	[42]
Alanine	85	24	0.05	[43]
Melissa officinalis extract	RT	12	0.5	[44]
Crude polysaccharide solution of <i>Pleurotus flabellatus</i>	RT	48	2	[45]
Lycium barbarum extract	95	24	1	[46]
Caffeic acid	95	24	1	[47]
Artemisinin	95	24	1	[48]

7 1		, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		
Synthetic method	Substrate/Precursor	<i>T</i> /°C	Graphene product	Ref.
CVD	$Cu/(H_2 + CH_4)$	1070	graphene single crystals	[54]
CVD	electrolytic Cu (technical grade)/ N_2 (90%):H ₂ (10%), C ₂ H ₂	1000	good quality graphene	[55]
CVD	Cu/CH ₄	1060	polycrystalline monolayer graphene	[56]
CVD with induction heating	(AuCu + MgO or AgCu + MgO)/ CH ₄	1000	high quality graphene decorated with bimetallic nanoparticles (AuCu and AgCu)	[57]
CVD	(Ni or Cu)/CH ₄	1050 (Cu), 980 (Ni)	high quality graphene	[58]
Inductively-coupled plasma CVD	$Cu/(CH_4 + H_2 + Ar plasma)$	300	AB-stacked bilayer graphene films	[59]
ALC ^{a)} CVD	(Cu or NiCu)/CH ₄	1050 (Cu), 1100 (NiCu)	continuous single crystal monolayer graphene	[60]
CVD	PET and glass/10 nm thick Ti layers	150	defect-free graphene	[61]
CVD	Cu/CH ₄	1000	single-layer graphene	[62]
CVD	Cu/CH ₄	1030	large and high-quality graphene films with single crystallinity	[63]
CVD	Cu/CH ₄	1000	high-quality graphene	[64]
Plasma enhanced CVD	1,2-dichlorobenzene/CH ₄	without any active heating	graphene nanostripes	[65]

 Table 2
 Synthesis parameters and graphene quality for some CVD-synthesized graphenes [54–65]

a) ALC: advancing local control of the precursor concentrations.

2.2.3 Chemical synthesis from aromatic molecules

The promising results of the ongoing chemical synthesis of graphene materials have already settled the direction of future research goals. Materials scientists and chemists are investigating new solutions for the synthesis of defect-free graphene with customized properties.

Moreno et al. reported a bottom-up method to synthesize nanoporous graphene formed in separate steps [66]. First, they synthesized graphene nanoribbons using the surfaceassisted Ullmann coupling of aromatic dihalide monomers into polymer chains and the cyclodehydrogenative aromatization of the intermediate polymeric chains into graphene nanoribbons (Fig. 8). The final step interconnects the graphene nanoribbons laterally by a highly selective dehydrogenative cross-coupling leading to nanoporous graphene which can be transferred to suitable substrates so its functionalities to be exploited.

An innovative, single-pot synthesis for chemically producing graphene/polyaniline nanocomposites was presented. Both graphene and polyaniline were chemically synthesized from benzene and aniline in a one-pot reaction. After characterization, the films with different polyaniline/ graphene ratios were applied as the active layer in supercapacitors [67].

It was demonstrated that alkyne benzannulation pro-

moted by Bronsted acid is a practical method for the bottom-up synthesis of graphene nanoribbons [68].

Using butadiyne-containing monomers initially converted to polydiacetylenes via topochemical polymerization and subsequent aromatization of the isolated polydiacetylenes at temperatures between 150 and 300 °C were obtained graphene nanoribbons with an average width of ~1.36 nm and an optical band gap of 1.4 eV [69].

3 Conclusion and outlook

It is impossible to discuss in a brief review all the aspects of graphene. In this article we have reviewed few of the recent advances in the field of graphene and graphene-based nanomaterials synthesis and applications. Several topdown approaches for graphene exfoliation have been considered such as liquid phase exfoliation, electrochemical exfoliation and chemical reduction of graphene oxide. Also, we discussed some of the bottom-up synthesis of graphene: epitaxial method, CVD and chemical synthesis from aromatic molecules. Overall, it can be seen from the discussion, that the progress which was made to date is absolutely remarkable. However, it is evident that still remains the need for an economical and viable large scale



Fig. 8 Schematic illustration of the synthetic hierarchical path for the generation of nanoporous graphene. Reproduced from Ref. [66] with permission of American Association for the Advancement of Science.

production method for high quality graphene which also to be environmentally friendly.

Acknowledgement This work was financially supported by the Ministry of Research and Innovation (MCI), Core Program, Project PN 18 03 02 02.

References

- Zou L, Wang L, Wu Y, et al. Trends analysis of graphene research and development. Journal of Data and Information Science, 2018, 3(1): 82–100
- [2] Ghany N A A, Elsherif S A, Handal H T. Revolution of graphene for different applications: State-of-the-art. Surfaces and Interfaces, 2017, 9: 93–106
- [3] Lee H C, Liu W W, Chai S P, et al. Review of the synthesis, transfer, characterization and growth mechanisms of single and multilayer graphene. RSC Advances, 2017, 7(26): 15644–15693
- [4] Kumar P, Wani M F. Synthesis and tribological properties of graphene: A review. Jurnal Tribologi, 2017, 13: 36–71
- [5] Gong F, Li H, Wang W, et al. Recent advances in graphene-based free-standing films for thermal management: Synthesis, properties, and applications. Coatings, 2018, 8(2): 63 (17 pages)
- [6] Singh R K, Kumar R, Singh D P. Graphene oxide: strategies for synthesis, reduction and frontier applications. RSC Advances, 2016, 6(69): 64993–65011
- [7] Mohan V B, Lau K T, Hui D, et al. Graphene-based materials and their composites: A review on production, applications and

product limitations. Composites Part B: Engineering, 2018, 142: 200-220

- [8] Wang Z, Ciacchi L C, Wei G. Recent advances in the synthesis of graphene-based nanomaterials for controlled drug delivery. Applied Sciences, 2017, 7(11): 1175 (18 pages)
- [9] Bhuyan M S A, Uddin M N, Islam M M, et al. Synthesis of graphene. International Nano Letters, 2016, 6(2): 65–83
- [10] Molina J, Cases F, Moretto L M. Graphene-based materials for the electrochemical determination of hazardous ions. Analytica Chimica Acta, 2016, 946: 9–39
- [11] Wu J B, Lin M L, Cong X, et al. Raman spectroscopy of graphenebased materials and its applications in related devices. Chemical Society Reviews, 2018, 47(5): 1822–1873
- [12] Roy S, Jaiswal A. Graphene-based nanomaterials for theranostic applications. Reports in Advances of Physical Sciences, 2017, 1 (4): 1750011
- [13] Wu X, Mu F, Zhao H. Synthesis and potential applications of nanoporous graphene: A review. Proceedings of the Nature Research Society, 2018, 2: 02003
- [14] Phiri J, Gane P, Maloney T C. General overview of graphene: Production, properties and application in polymer composites. Materials Science and Engineering B, 2017, 215: 9–28
- [15] Habib M R, Liang T, Yu X, et al. A review of theoretical study of graphene chemical vapor deposition synthesis on metals: nucleation, growth, and the role of hydrogen and oxygen. Reports on Progress in Physics, 2018, 81(3): 036501
- [16] Madni A, Noreen S, Maqbool I, et al. Graphene-based

nanocomposites: synthesis and their theranostic applications. Journal of Drug Targeting, 2018, 26(10): 858-883

- [17] Zhang Q, Wu Z, Li N, et al. Advanced review of graphene-based nanomaterials in drug delivery systems: Synthesis, modification, toxicity and application. Materials Science and Engineering C, 2017, 77: 1363–1375
- [18] Yang Y, Han C, Jiang B, et al. Graphene-based materials with tailored nanostructures for energy conversion and storage. Materials Science and Engineering R: Reports, 2016, 102: 1–72
- [19] Tour J M. Top-down versus bottom-up fabrication of graphenebased electronics. Chemistry of Materials, 2014, 26(1): 163–171
- [20] Hadi A, Zahirifar J, Karimi-Sabet J, et al. Graphene nanosheets preparation using magnetic nanoparticle assisted liquid phase exfoliation of graphite: The coupled effect of ultrasound and wedging nanoparticles. Ultrasonics Sonochemistry, 2018, 44: 204–214
- [21] Ding J H, Zhao H R, Yu H B. A water-based green approach to large-scale production of aqueous compatible graphene nanoplatelets. Scientific Reports, 2018, 8(1): 5567
- [22] Chen J, Shi W, Chen Y, et al. Eco-friendly exfoliation of graphite into pristine graphene with little defect by a facile physical treatment. Applied Physics Letters, 2016, 108(7): 073105
- [23] Pavlova A S, Obraztsova E A, Belkin A V, et al. Liquid-phase exfoliation of flaky graphite. Journal of Nanophotonics, 2016, 10(1): 012525
- [24] Ng Y Z, Beh K P, Suhaimi F H A, et al. Investigation of electrochemical-based exfoliation of graphene with the aid of stabilizer. In: AIP Conference Proceedings, 2017, 1875: UNSP 020001-1
- [25] Buzaglo M, Ruse E, Levy I, et al. Top-down, scalable graphene sheets production: It is all about the precipitate. Chemistry of Materials, 2017, 29(23): 9998–10006
- [26] Coroş M, Pogăcean F, Roşu M C, et al. Simple and cost-effective synthesis of graphene by electrochemical exfoliation of graphite rods. RSC Advances, 2016, 6(4): 2651–2661
- [27] Pogăcean F, Coroş M, Magerusan L, et al. Sensitive detection of hydroquinone using exfoliated graphene–Au/glassy carbon modified electrode. Nanotechnology, 2018, 29(9): 095501
- [28] Munuera J M, Paredes J I, Enterría M, et al. Electrochemical exfoliation of graphite in aqueous sodium halide electrolytes toward low oxygen content graphene for energy and environmental applications. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 2017, 9 (28): 24085–24099
- [29] Hossain S T, Wang R. Electrochemical exfoliation of graphite: Effect of temperature and hydrogen peroxide addition. Electrochimica Acta, 2016, 216: 253–260
- [30] Singh R, Tripathi C C. Electrochemical exfoliation of graphite into

graphene for flexible supercapacitor application. Materials Today-Proceedings, 2018, 5(1): 1125–1130

- [31] Wang H, Wei C, Zhu K, et al. Preparation of graphene sheets by electrochemical exfoliation of graphite in confined space and their application in transparent conductive films. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 2017, 9(39): 34456–34466
- [32] Hsieh C T, Hsueh J H. Electrochemical exfoliation of graphene sheets from a natural graphite flask in the presence of sulfate ions at different temperatures. RSC Advances, 2016, 6(69): 64826– 64831
- [33] Shi P C, Guo J P, Liang X, et al. Large-scale production of highquality graphene sheets by a non-electrified electrochemical exfoliation method. Carbon, 2018, 126: 507–513
- [34] Aunkor M T H, Mahbubul I M, Saidur R, et al. The green reduction of graphene oxide. RSC Advances, 2016, 6(33): 27807– 27828
- [35] Ortega-Amaya R, Matsumoto Y, Díaz-Torres E, et al. Chapter 6: Green routes for graphene oxide reduction and self-assembled graphene oxide micro- and nanostructures production. In: Kyzas G Z, Mitropoulos A C, eds. Graphene Materials: Structure, Properties and Modifications. ExLi4EvA, 2017, 129–151
- [36] De Silva K K H, Huang H H, Joshi R K, et al. Chemical reduction of graphene oxide using green reductants. Carbon, 2017, 119: 190–199
- [37] Choi Y J, Kim E, Han J, et al. A novel biomolecule-mediated reduction of graphene oxide: A multifunctional anti-cancer agent. Molecules, 2016, 21(3): 375 (20 pages)
- [38] Moosa A A, Jaafar J N. Green reduction of graphene oxide using tea leaves extract with applications to lead ions removal from water. Nanoscience and Nanotechnology, 2017, 7(2): 38–47
- [39] Khosroshahi Z, Kharaziha M, Karimzadeh F, et al. Green reduction of graphene oxide by ascorbic acid. In: AIP Conference Proceedings, 2018, 1920: UNSP 020009
- [40] Luo F, Wu K, Shi J, et al. Green reduction of graphene oxide by polydopamine to a construct flexible film: superior flame retardancy and high thermal conductivity. Journal of Materials Chemistry A: Materials for Energy and Sustainability, 2017, 5 (35): 18542–18550
- [41] Chandu B, Mosali V S S, Mullamuri B, et al. A facile green reduction of graphene oxide using *Annona squamosa* leaf extract. Carbon Letters, 2017, 21(1): 74–80
- [42] Xu L Q, Liao Y B, Li N N, et al. Vancomycin-assisted green synthesis of reduced graphene oxide for antimicrobial applications. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 2018, 514: 733– 739
- [43] Wang J, Salihi E C, Šiller L. Green reduction of graphene oxide using alanine. Materials Science and Engineering C, 2017, 72: 1–6

- [44] Ozturk E, Ozbek B, Senel I. Production of biologically safe and mechanically improved reduced graphene oxide/hydroxyapatite composites. Materials Research Express, 2017, 4(1): 015601
- [45] Dasgupta A, Sarkar J, Ghosh M, et al. Green conversion of graphene oxide to graphene nanosheets and its biosafety study. PLoS One, 2017, 12(2): e0171607
- [46] Hou D, Liu Q, Cheng H, et al. Green reduction of graphene oxide via *Lycium barbarum* extract. Journal of Solid State Chemistry, 2017, 246: 351–356
- [47] Kubendhiran S, Sakthinathan S, Chen S M, et al. Green reduction of reduced graphene oxide with nickel tetraphenyl porphyrin nanocomposite modified electrode for enhanced electrochemical determination of environmentally pollutant nitrobenzene. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 2017, 497: 207–216
- [48] Hou D, Liu Q, Wang X, et al. Facile synthesis of graphene via reduction of graphene oxide by artemisinin in ethanol. Journal of Materiomics, 2018, 4(3): 256–265
- [49] Tan H, Wang D, Guo Y. Thermal growth of graphene: A review. Coatings, 2018, 8(1): 40
- [50] Qin X, Chen X, Zhang F, et al. Polarized Raman scattering of epitaxial graphene prepared by thermal decomposition of SiC. ECS Journal of Solid State Science and Technology, 2018, 7(3): M35–M40
- [51] Mitsuhashi F, Okada M, Tateno Y, et al. Extremely uniform epitaxial growth of graphene from sputtered SiC films on SiC substrates. MRS Advances, 2017, 2(1): 51–56
- [52] Yu X, Zhang Z, Liu F, et al. Synthesis of transfer-free graphene on cemented carbide surface. Scientific Reports, 2018, 8: 4759 (10 pages)
- [53] Fauzi F B, Ismail E, Ani M H, et al. A critical review of the effects of fluid dynamics on graphene growth in atmospheric pressure chemical vapor deposition. Journal of Materials Research, 2018, 33(9): 1088–1108
- [54] Liu B, Xuan N, Ba K, et al. Towards the standardization of graphene growth through carbon depletion, refilling and nucleation. Carbon, 2017, 119: 350–354
- [55] Moreno-Barcenas A, Perez-Robles J F, Vorobiev Y V, et al. Graphene synthesis using a CVD reactor and a discontinuous feed of gas precursor at atmospheric pressure. Journal of Nanomaterials, 2018, 3457263 (11 pages)
- [56] Yin S, Zhang X, Xu C, et al. Chemical vapor deposition growth of scalable monolayer polycrystalline graphene films with millimeter-sized domains. Materials Letters, 2018, 215: 259–262

- [57] Pogacean F, Biris A R, Socaci C, et al. Graphene-bimetallic nanoparticle composites with enhanced electro-catalytic detection of bisphenol A. Nanotechnology, 2016, 27(48): 484001
- [58] Lavin-Lopez M P, Sanchez-Silva L, Valverde J L, et al. CVDgraphene growth on different polycrystalline transition metals. AIMS Materials Science, 2017, 4(1): 194–208
- [59] Pekdemir S, Onses M S, Hancer M. Low temperature growth of graphene using inductively-coupled plasma chemical vapor deposition. Surface and Coatings Technology, 2017, 309: 814– 819
- [60] Vlassiouk I V, Stehle Y, Pudasaini P R, et al. Evolutionary selection growth of two-dimensional materials on polycrystalline substrates. Nature Materials, 2018, 17(4): 318–322
- [61] Park B J, Choi J S, Eom J H, et al. Defect-free graphene synthesized directly at 150 °C via chemical vapor deposition with no transfer. ACS Nano, 2018, 12(2): 2008–2016
- [62] Kasikov A, Kahro T, Matisen L, et al. The optical properties of transferred graphene and the dielectrics grown on it obtained by ellipsometry. Applied Surface Science, 2018, 437: 410–417
- [63] Xu X, Zhang Z, Dong J, et al. Ultrafast epitaxial growth of metresized single-crystal graphene on industrial Cu foil. Science Bulletin, 2017, 62(15): 1074–1080
- [64] Chin H T, Lee J J, Hofmann M, et al. Impact of growth rate on graphene lattice-defect formation within a single crystalline domain. Scientific Reports, 2018, 8: 4046
- [65] Hsu C C, Bagley J D, Teague M L, et al. High-yield single-step catalytic growth of graphene nanostripes by plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition. Carbon, 2018, 129: 527–536
- [66] Moreno C, Vilas-Varela M, Kretz B, et al. Bottom-up synthesis of multifunctional nanoporous graphene. Science, 2018, 360(6385): 199–203
- [67] Souza V H R, Oliveira M M, Zarbin A J G. Bottom-up synthesis of graphene/polyaniline nanocomposites for flexible and transparent energy storage devices. Journal of Power Sources, 2017, 348: 87– 93
- [68] Yang W, Lucotti A, Tommasini M, et al. Bottom-up synthesis of soluble and narrow graphene nanoribbons using alkyne benzannulations. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2016, 138 (29): 9137–9144
- [69] Jordan R S, Wang Y, McCurdy R D, et al. Synthesis of graphene nanoribbons via the topochemical polymerization and subsequent aromatization of a diacetylene precursor. Chem, 2016, 1(1): 78–90